No. _____

Court of Appeals No. 75378-9-I

**SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

In re the Marriage of:

AMEENA AAMER,

Appellee/Respondent,

and

SHARIEF YOUSSEF,

Appellant/Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C.
Shelby R. Lemmel, WSBA 33099
Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278
241 Madison Ave. North
Bainbridge Island, WA 98110
(206) 780-5033
Attorney for Appellant

INTRODUCTION

This Court has recently and repeatedly addressed the important role the judiciary must play in protecting parties against bias in all its forms. This is particularly true where bias is implicit, as it is harder to detect. It is also particularly true where the parties are minorities, so are especially vulnerable to judgments based on bias. Family law cases add the additional complexity that courts are tasked with regulating intimate aspects of the parties' lives, leaving them open to the arbitrary imposition of the court's preferences, rather than sound judicial decision-making.

Sharief Youssef is a Muslim man who immigrated to this Country from Egypt. When he received an unfavorable parenting evaluation, he presented testimony from two independent experts, agreeing that the parenting evaluator suffered from confirmation bias and failed to deal competently with the parties' religion and culture. The trial court did not mention, much less resolve this issue.

The appellate court dismissed this Court's recent precedent, if mentioned at all, holding that the bias alleged was not "affirmative." That misses the point. Bias is often more difficult to detect than it once was. That does not make the resulting discrimination any less pernicious. This Court should take review.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Must the judiciary be vigilant to guard against bias in all its forms, especially where the parties are minorities, so are particularly subject to decisions based on bias?

2. When a party presents evidence of bias and cultural and religious insensitivity, must the trial court at least address the issue to permit appellate review?

FACTS RELEVANT TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. The parties married shortly after meeting, having never been alone together.

Appellant and Petitioner Sharief Youssef was born in Cairo, Egypt, and moved to the U.S. in 1989, when he was 11 years old. CP 802. Respondent Ameena Aamer was born in the United States to an Egyptian father and an American mother. RP 555; CP 801. Both are devout Muslims. RP 195.

Aamer and her family met Youssef's parents in summer 2013, while stopping in Baltimore on their way to Ocean City, Maryland. *Id.* The Aamer family noticed that the women in Youssef's family were "also covered," so struck up a conversation. *Id.* Youssef's mother mentioned that Youssef, who was not present, was unmarried, and asked whether Aamer or her sister were also single. *Id.* Upon learning that they were, the families exchanged contact information,

and Youssef's mother later invited the Aamer family to come to their Maryland home. RP 195-96.

About one week after that initial meeting, Youssef visited the Aamer family in Pittsburgh. RP 196. Following this second meeting between the parties, their fathers agreed: "Okay, . . . we would like maybe to take this a step further. We have the intention of maybe proposing a relationship, marriage and engagement, for son and daughter to start a life together." *Id.* The parties then "made a verbal promise . . . to get to know each other before actually going into marriage." RP 197.

"[D]ue to [their] cultural and religious beliefs," the parties "couldn't be left alone." RP 197. They were not allowed to date, much less live together. *Id.* Although they began talking over the phone, they agreed that any in-person contact would be supervised by Aamer's parents. *Id.*

Over the next few months, the parties talked over the phone for a few hours each week. RP 197-98, 644. They became engaged after Thanksgiving, and picked out rings the next day, accompanied by Aamer's mother and sister. RP 198. They did not see each other again until the engagement party in late December. RP 199.

Following that, the parties saw each other only once or twice before marrying on June 14, 2014. RP 645; CP 2.

B. Soon after marrying, the parties learned Aamer was pregnant, and began arguing about finances.

Six weeks into the marriage, the parties learned that Aamer was pregnant. RP 524. Weeks later in August, they had their first argument about finances. RP 327-31, 651-55. Aamer went into the marriage believing that as a Middle Eastern and Muslim man, Youssef was financially responsible for all their expenses. RP 201. She felt that culturally and religiously, women are not expected to contribute unless there is a “desperate need.” RP 202. Youssef did not share this understanding, and was surprised by Aamer’s view. RP 651.

Aamer brought her father into the dispute. RP 652. Although she agreed to help cover the rent, she asked Youssef to pay her back. *Id.*

C. Three months into the marriage, Aamer left the state without notice, later seeking a divorce.

The parties argued about rent again the next month. RP 332-33, 651-55. Aamer alleges that she became “fearful” during this

argument, so went to Youssef's father, Sami.¹ RP 333. Sami was not surprised when Aamer called asking to spend the night, where it is typical in the "Arabic Tradition" for a married couple to have a close relationship with their parents. RP 573, 578-79.

The parties disagree about what transpired that evening. Aamer alleges that Youssef "grabbed" her hand, threatened to move the couple into his parents' basement, tried to force Aamer to talk in the middle of the night, and intentionally took her phone the next morning. RP 333-40. Youssef denies these things. RP 692-93. Sami did not see Youssef "grab" Aamer's hand or take her to the basement. RP 579. The family ate breakfast together the next morning, and Aamer agreed to have lunch with Sami. *Id.* She left purportedly to get something from the parties' apartment, but never returned. RP 579-80. Aamer then moved across the country to Washington without notice. RP 343.

Aamer refused to answer Youssef's calls, or even communicate about the pregnancy. RP 526-27. For six months, Youssef reached out to Aamer, hoping to repair their marriage. RP

¹ Some first names are used to avoid confusion. No disrespect is intended.

356-57, 656-57. But he learned through the “mediator” who married them that Amer wanted a divorce and would not negotiate. RP 656.

D. The parties’ daughter was born about one month after Amer filed for dissolution.

H was born on March 10, 2015, about one month after Amer petitioned for dissolution. RP 188; CP 1-6. Youssef flew to Seattle immediately upon learning that Amer’s labor would be induced. CP 20. For the next five-to-six weeks, Youssef had daily, sometimes twice daily visits with H before he had to return home for work. RP 528-29, 530-31, 532-34, 636, 713; CP 7-9, 20-21, 522. Although he rented an apartment in Seattle and flew in for weekly visits, Amer denied Youssef visitation for nearly three weeks, forcing Youssef to obtain an emergency order to see H. RP 530, 532; CP 11, 15, 21-23. Youssef flew to Seattle every week for visitation before relocating in October 2015. RP 715-16.

Those other than Amer had nothing but good to say about Youssef’s parenting. RP 497, 500, 508, 588-90, 600-02; CP 518-19, 520-21, 522-23. This includes parenting evaluator Marsha Hedrick. RP 79-80; CP 805.

E. At trial, two experts opined on Youssef's behalf that the parenting evaluation strongly indicated confirmation bias and cultural insensitivity.

Hedrick, who recently spent two years living in a "Muslim village" in Africa with her dad and his three wives, opined as to "the relationships between . . . Muslim men and women," calling it a "patriarchal system," in which men are "very" dominant. RP 58, 107. She opined also that Muslim women are, and are "expected to be" "overtly" obedient to their husbands and fathers. RP 108.

Hedrick did not speak to any of Youssef's family, friends, co-workers, or any other adult with whom Youssef socialized. RP 36-37. She remarked that this matter was "notable" for the low level of conflict, stating "these parties were able to manage contact from very early on with one another" CP 810. Yet despite having only good to say about his parenting, Hedrick opined that Youssef had "interpersonal difficulties" that could affect his parenting in the future. CP 812. Hedrick opined that Youssef needed multiple therapies to improve his "adult interpersonal interactions" before having overnight residential time. RP 45. Thus, she denied overnight visits for at least one year, and on the condition that Youssef complete "group therapy." *Id.*

Experts Daniel Rybicki and Gary Wieder independently concluded that Hedrick's report strongly indicates cultural insensitivity and "confirmatory bias," the tendency to search for and select information that supports premature conclusions about a party. RP 237, 409. One primary example is Hedrick's perception that Youssef had "three very short marriages and . . . the problems that arose in those marriages." RP 29-32, 100, 114-17, 238; CP 810-11. Hedrick's opinion on this point is based almost exclusively on collateral contact with Imam Shaker Alsayad who met with Youssef and his first wife "less than a handful of times" over ten years before Hedrick's report. RP 38, 702; CP 801. Shaker never met or spoke to the woman Hedrick refers to as Youssef's second "wife." RP 38-40. Under Islam, Youssef's second wife was Aamer. RP 574-75, 700-01. Although Youssef and his second "wife" entered a marriage contract, they never had a Muslim wedding and never consummated the marriage. RP 700-01. Thus, under Islam, no marriage occurred. *Id.*

Shaker was uninvolved in the parties' marriage. RP 86-87, 671. Hedrick did not contact either Imam who was involved in the parties' marriage, having "missed" that there were "other Imams." RP 85-86, 656, 671.

Rybicki and Weider agreed that Hedrick misunderstood these “marriages” and that the conclusions she drew from them ignored cultural and religious context. RP 237-38, 260, 698-99. As just one example, Hedrick seemed unaware that Youssef’s first wife asked him to return to Egypt with her and that the marriage resolved amicably when he declined. RP 699-700. She failed to consider that the parties’ marriage may have failed largely because it was arranged. RP 238. Hedrick’s failure to even consider these alternative explanations indicates she “may have been biased.” *Id.*

Additional examples of bias include that Hedrick refused to contact any of Youssef’s friends, family, or anyone “who would have been sources of information about [Youssef’s] interpersonal skills.” RP 226. Hedrick admitted that these people could have contradicted her theory that Youssef lacks the interpersonal skills to form quality adult relationships. RP 101.

In another “example of bias,” Hedrick interpreted Youssef’s “normal” psychological test scores to support her conclusion that he had interpersonal deficits. RP 234-35. Hedrick’s dissimilar treatment of Aamer’s test scores also indicates bias. RP 234-35, 438-39. For Youssef, normal test scores “somehow” support Hedrick’s theory that he has interpersonal skill deficits, but for Aamer, “significant

clinic elevations” measuring suicidal thinking and mistrust were dismissed without any consideration of how they might affect co-parenting. RP 234-35. There are additional examples, too. BA 35-39.

F. The trial court adopted the parenting evaluator’s report nearly verbatim, failing to even mention, much less resolve, the bias and cultural insensitivity alleged.

The vast majority of Youssef’s case was that the parenting evaluation suffered from confirmation bias and failed to deal competently with the parties’ religion and culture. Two experts agreed. Testimony on this point spanned two days of the five-day trial. RP 219-90, 387-457. Yet the trial court adopted nearly all of Hedrick’s recommendations, failing to even mention these issues. This Court should accept review and reverse.

REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD TAKE REVIEW

A. The appellate decision conflicts with this Court’s decision in *State v. Saintcalle*, cautioning against implicit bias in judicial decision-making. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

This Court first addressed implicit bias in the context of jury selection, and particularly *Batson* challenges, in *State v. Saintcalle*, 178 Wn.2d 34, 45-49, 309 P.3d 326 (2013). There, the Court began its careful analysis with the caution that “Discrimination ‘mars the integrity of the judicial system and prevents the idea of a democratic government from becoming a reality.’” *Saintcalle*, 178 Wn.2d at 41

(quoting ***Edmonson v. Leesville Concrete Co.***, 500 U.S. 614, 628, 111 S. Ct. 2077, 114 L. Ed. 2d 660 (1991)). The Court explained that implicit bias is unconscious discrimination resulting from ordinary cognitive processes. 178 Wn.2d at 47-49.

These processes occur because the human brain must categorize information to process and store it, leading to stereotypes. *Id.* at 48. Even if consciously rejected, stereotypes influence the way humans perceive, store, use, and remember information. *Id.* “Discrimination, understood as biased decision-making, then flows from the resulting distorted or unobjective information.” *Id.* (quoting Antony Page, *Batson’s Blind-Spot: Unconscious Stereotyping and The Peremptory Challenge*, 85 B.U. L. Rev. 155 at 160-61 (2005)).

Implicit-bias is compounded over time, as each generation passes its stereotypes down to the next:

[S]tereotypes about ethnic groups appear as a part of the social heritage of society. They are transmitted across generations as a component of the accumulated knowledge of society. They are as true as tradition, and as pervasive as folklore. No person can grow up in a society without having learned the stereotypes assigned to the major ethnic groups.

Saintcalle, 178 Wn.2d at 48 (quoting Ehrlich, *The Social Psychology of Prejudice* 35 (1973)). These stereotypes become ingrained in the unconscious mind, so “endure despite our best efforts to eliminate

them.” 178 Wn.2d at 46 (discussing Page, *supra*; Ehrlich, *supra*). The Court cautioned that the reality that people are often unaware of their biases, does not make discrimination “any less pernicious.” *Id.* at 49.

Two experts opined repeatedly and at length that Hedrick’s parenting evaluation was rife with confirmation bias. Facts Relevant to Petition § E. In their view, Hedrick interpreted the data to support negative views about Youssef and positive views about Aamer, rather than considering an alternate hypothesis. *Id.* This biased approach was intertwined with Hedrick’s failure to deal competently with the parties’ culture and religion. *Id.*

The trial court’s failure to even address this issue, much less resolve it, is at odds with the concerns this Court expressed in ***Saintcalle***. Assuming Hedrick’s bias was implicit, it would affect her decision-making even if consciously rejected. ***Saintcalle***, 178 Wn.2d at 46. The fact that she may have been unaware of her biases, does not make the discrimination “any less pernicious.” 178 Wn.2d at 49. This is not to fault Hedrick – “To put it simply, good people often discriminate, and they often discriminate without being aware of it.” *Id.* at 48 (quoting Page, *supra*). Rather, the point is that the trial court must resolve these issues when brought to its attention.

And the appellate court missed the mark in affirming the trial court's decision on the basis that Hedrick addressed the bias asserted. Slip Op. (attached) at 22. Implicit biases are unconscious, and "endure despite our best efforts to eliminate them." **Saintecalle**, 178 Wn.2d at 46. Simply asking Hedrick to address her bias would do little to remedy the effect of unconscious stereotyping on her report and recommendations.

In sum, four years ago this Court took the important step of addressing how implicit bias can affect one aspect of the judicial process. Unfortunately, the trial and appellate courts failed to heed that warning. Thus, review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Further, this matter presents another opportunity to make clear that our judicial system must be vigilant to guard against implicit bias that threatens the administration of justice as much as any other form of discrimination. Indeed, as **Saintcalle** recognizes, bias used to be easier to detect – the fact that people are often unaware of their biases does not make them "any less pernicious." 178 Wn.2d at 49. This issue is just as important here as it was in **Saintcalle**. And this Court's decision there demonstrates the need for this Court to address this issue again. Thus, this Court should also take review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

B. The appellate decision conflicts with this Court's decisions in *Chandola* and *Black*, cautioning against bias, particularly in the family law context. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

As this Court recently recognized, it is particularly important to guard against bias in the family law context, where trial courts are “empowered to regulate intimate aspects of the parties’ lives.” *Marriage of Chandola*, 180 Wn.2d 632, 655, 327 P.3d 644 (2014) Thus, trial courts must proceed cautiously, and document the reasons for their decisions, especially when the parties before them are minorities “particularly ‘vulnerable to judgments based on cultural or class bias[es].’” *Chandola*, 180 Wn.2d at 655 (quoting *Santosky v. Kramer*, 455 U.S. 745, 762-63, 102 S. Ct. 1388, 71 L. Ed. 2d 599 (1982)). Here, the trial court entirely failed to address the bias alleged, much less the parties’ religion and culture, at odds with this Court’s decisions in *Chandola* and *Black*, *infra*. The appellate court did not mention *Chandola*, and dealt inadequately with *Black*. This Court should accept review and reverse. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

One year after issuing its decision in *Saintcalle*, this Court addressed the effect of cultural bias on trial courts entering parenting plans. *Chandola*, 180 Wn.2d at 653-56. At issue there was an RCW 26.09.191(3)(g) restriction limiting the amount of time the father’s parents could be present during his residential time. 180 Wn.2d at

655-56. This Court held that this .191 restriction was based on the trial court's "opinion that a father—an 'only child'" of Indian 'cultural . . . history'—relies too much on "extended family" to help him raise his child." *Id.* at 654-55. That "opinion," was insufficient to support the .191 restriction, where it was not a finding of physical, mental, or emotional harm. *Id.* at 655 Rather, the restriction seemed motivated to increase the father's independence, not to protect the child. *Id.* This Court thus reversed, holding that "[a]ny other conclusion leaves families vulnerable to a trial court's biases." *Id.*

This Court held that trial courts must identify specific reasons for entering .191 restrictions to prevent them from arbitrarily imposing their preferences. *Id.* "That is particularly important in the family law context, where the trial court is empowered to regulate intimate aspects of the parties' lives." *Id.* (citing **Santosky**, 455 U.S. at 762-63). This is especially true for "minority groups [who] are particularly 'vulnerable to judgments based on cultural or class bias[es].'" *Id.*

Importantly, this Court stated "[w]e do not mean to imply that the trial court here was motivated by bias or cultural insensitivity." *Id.* The issue requiring reversal was not whether the Court was intentionally biased. Rather, the issue was that the Court's failure to

properly justify its .191 restrictions gave no assurance that its decision was free from bias or cultural insensitivity, conscious or not.

It is equally true here that Youssef, a cultural, ethnic, and religious minority, is “particularly ‘vulnerable to judgments based on cultural or class bias[es].’” *Id.* (quoting **Santosky**, 455 U.S. at 762-63). Indeed, in today’s climate it is difficult to imagine a minority group more vulnerable to bias than Muslim men who have immigrated to this Country from the middle east.

Yet the trial and appellate court decisions fail to abide by the teachings of **Chandola**. Despite considerable evidence that Hedrick failed to deal competently with the parties’ religion and culture, the trial court failed to even mention these important issues. Thus, it is impossible to tell whether the trial court’s decision resulted from cultural or religious preferences, even if unconscious. The appellate court failed to address **Chandola** at all.

This Court again announced the importance of protecting families “‘vulnerable to a trial court’s biases’” in April 2017, holding that “[o]ne purpose of the dissolution statutes is to prevent ‘arbitrary imposition of the court’s preferences.’” **Marriage of Black**, 188 Wn.2d 114, 135, 392 P.3d 1041 (2017) (quoting **Chandola**, 180 Wn.2d at 655). There, this Court reversed a parenting plan placing

the children with the father a majority of the time, holding that the trial court impermissibly considered the mother's sexual orientation. **Black**, 188 Wn.2d at 117. That holding is based in large part on the trial court's "heavy" reliance on the GAL's report, recommendations, and testimony that evinced an impermissible bias. 188 Wn.2d at 126-127. Thus, the court reversed and remanded to a different judge, holding that "[t]he evidence of bias casts doubt on the trial court's entire ruling." *Id.* at 137.

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