# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/6/2017 3:41 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

### No. 95031-8

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of:

AMEENA AAMER,

Respondent,

v.

SHARIEF YOUSSEF,

Petitioner.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Valerie Villacin WSBA No. 34515

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Respondent

###

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

marriage to Aamer left him "terrified that he was going to lose his child." (Ex. 1, CP 808)

Youssef's other expert Dr. Rybicki challenged Dr. Hedrick's interpretation of Youssef's psychological test results, which Dr. Hedrick believed suggested that Youssef had a "tendency to deny personal shortcomings and minimize problems." (Ex. 1, CP 807; RP 417) Dr. Rybicki criticized Dr. Hedrick for failing "to grasp the fact that coming from a fairly traditional Muslim-world approach, where mothers tend to be primary caregivers, that in a Western cultural approach, such as we have here, where fathers may have a more balanced input, that that — it would not be a surprise at all for someone to work real hard to present themselves as a favorable parent." (RP 417)

But Dr. Hedrick's interpretation of the test results was consistent with other information she gathered during the evaluation. Aamer reported her concerns that Youssef was "not being straightforward with her" and withheld "relevant information if he believes it reflects badly on him or his time with" their daughter. (Ex. 1, CP 812) For example, Aamer testified that during one exchange the daughter was returned to her crying, and it was clear that she been crying for a while. (RP 361) When Aamer asked about

the daughter, Youssef refused to say anything more than "she was a happy, cuddly and smiley baby" during their time together. (RP 361) Aamer testified that she recognized that babies "cry for some reason or no reason," but Youssef's insistence that their daughter is "always happy with him" caused Aamer to be concerned that she is not "always getting the straightforward information." (RP 361-62) Dr. Hedrick noted that it was important that Youssef work on his tendency to minimize problems because it is "apt to interfere with co-parenting in that Ameena perceives him as potentially not being straightforward with her about [the daughter]. [] If he does not make this focus, he will likely create a situation where there is more and more distrust with Ameena, making parenting more difficult for both of them." (Ex. 1, CP 812)

Dr. Hedrick experienced Youssef's efforts to deny personal shortcomings and minimize problems herself. Youssef told Dr. Hedrick that there was no "time I was questioned by authorities, detained, arrested, or taken to Court," but Dr. Hedrick discovered that Youssef had once been arrested for sexual solicitation. (Ex. 1, CP 811) Youssef also denied having a mental health history, but Dr. Hedrick learned from his former therapist that he had past episodes

of depression for which he was prescribed anti-depressants. (Ex. 1; CP 811)

After a five-day trial, and after considering the criticisms of Youssef's experts, as well as the testimony of the parties and their witnesses, the trial court found "the parenting evaluation of Marsha" Hedrick, Ph.D. to be complete and reliable" and "adopt[ed] her recommendations with minor revisions on some issues." (CP 787) The trial court rejected Youssel's proposed 50/50 parenting plan for the parties' daughter, who was then 14 months old, but declined Dr. Hedrick's recommendation that Youssef have no overnights for one year. The trial court instead ordered that Youssef begin overnights after he completed three months of counseling, unless the counselor recommended that overnights begin sooner or later. (CP 787) The trial court also ordered Youssef to participate in six months of group therapy to "explore and improve" his interactional skills with adults. (CP 793, 798) The trial court found the therapy was necessary to "assist the father to develop long-term methods, expectations and attitudes that will lead to positive cooperation with the mother concerning the child and to develop positive means in his own parenting." (CP 787)

In an unpublished decision, Division One affirmed the trial court's decision and awarded Aamer half her attorney fees and all of her costs on appeal. Youssef now petitions for review.

### C. Grounds for Denial of Review.

1. This Court should deny review because the record does not support petitioner's allegation that the lower courts' decisions were biased.

As a Muslim-American, respondent recognizes the importance of avoiding stereotypes, rejecting discrimination of any kind, and the necessity of bias-free judicial decision-making. However, indulging dissatisfied litigants fishing for signs of bias solely to upend discretionary decisions does nothing to protect the integrity of the judicial system. Instead, we as a society properly presume "that a trial judge properly discharged [his or] her official duties without bias or prejudice. The party seeking to overcome that presumption must provide specific facts establishing bias." *In re Davis*, 152 Wn.2d 647, 692, 101 P.3d 1 (2004); *see also Ritter v. Bd. of Comm'rs of Adams Cty. Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 1*, 96 Wn.2d 503, 513, 637 P.2d 940 (1981) (party alleging bias bears the burden of affirmatively showing that the judge's decision was based on bias).

This Court should reject petitioner's demand for a complete "do-over" of the trial court's discretionary parenting decision by granting review of the Court of Appeals' decision affirming it, which would needlessly extend the litigation between these parents who were married for only three months before separating. Because of the father's appeal and petition to this Court, the parties have now been locked in litigation for longer than their daughter was alive when the trial court entered its final orders. The record simply does not support petitioner's claim that the trial court's discretionary parenting decision was the product of anything other than a careful assessment of the best interests of their daughter. Review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) to address the undisputed claim "that our judicial system must be vigilant to guard against implicit bias that threatens the administration of justice." (Petition 13)

This Court squarely recognized and addressed the problem of "implicit bias" in *State v. Saintcalle*, 178 Wn.2d 34, 309 P.3d 326, *cert. denied*, 134 S.Ct. 831 (2013), the criminal case on which petitioner so heavily relies. (Petition 10-13, 19-20) In *Saintcalle*, this Court addressed the concern of "unconscious bias and implicit bias" in peremptory strikes during jury selection, holding that courts must "seek to eliminate this bias altogether or at least move us closer to that goal." 178 Wn.2d at 54, ¶ 43. Review of the decision here will

do nothing to further that goal, which has in any event been recently addressed by this Court's decision in *City of Seattle v. Erickson*, 188 Wn.2d 721, 398 P.3d 1124 (2017), which adopted a framework to better secure against the threat of implicit racial prejudice in jury selection that the *Saintcalle* Court found was missing.

To the extent that a holding in a criminal case on peremptory challenges in jury selection has any relevance in a domestic relations case addressing parenting decisions by an experienced trial judge, the Court of Appeals unpublished decision is wholly consistent with *Erickson*. To ensure that jury selection proceedings are free from racial prejudice, this Court in *Erickson* held that when faced with a prima facie case of discriminatory purpose, such as when "the sole member of a racially cognizable group is removed" using a peremptory strike, "[t]he trial court must then require an explanation from the striking party and analyze, based on the explanation and the totality of the circumstances, whether the strike was racially motivated." *Erickson*, 188 Wn.2d at 734, ¶ 32.

Here, upon allegations by petitioner and his experts that Dr. Hedrick was biased in her evaluation, Dr. Hedrick provided an explanation for her conclusions. After considering the "totality of the circumstances," including the testimony of both parents and their

witnesses, the trial court rejected petitioner's claims of bias, finding that Dr. Hedrick's evaluation was "complete and reliable." (CP 787) In affirming the trial court, the Court of Appeals noted that the "record demonstrates Dr. Hedrick's awareness of and sensitivity to cultural issues in this case," and that Dr. Hedrick "addressed most, if not all, of the alleged deficiencies in her testimony and explained why she took or did not take various actions in preparing her report." (Opinion 22)

Thus, contrary to petitioner's claim, the trial court indeed "dealt fully and properly" with the "parties' religion and culture" and the allegations that Dr. Hedrick's "report suffered from confirmation bias." (Petition 18-20) First, both parents are of the same religion and culture; they do not disagree how their daughter should be raised within their shared religion and culture. Second, in light of the extensive testimony from Dr. Hedrick squarely addressing the allegations of "confirmation bias" and the mother's testimony fully supporting Dr. Hedrick's conclusions, the finding that Dr. Hedrick's report was "complete and reliable" clearly reflects that the trial court "dealt" with the allegations. As the Court of Appeals held, "[t]he record sufficiently demonstrates the court's consideration of the statutory factors" in making its parenting plan. (Opinion 25)

The Court of Appeals' deference "to the trial court's decision regarding the weight and persuasiveness of conflicting expert testimony" (Opinion 22) raises no cognizable issue under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Review of this unpublished decision is not necessary as a further guard against implicit bias in judicial decision-making because the courts below effectively addressed the concerns of any implicit bias by Dr. Hedrick in her parenting evaluation, or by the trial court in its discretionary parenting decision.

## 2. This Court should deny review because the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with any of this Court's cases.

Review of the Court of Appeals decision is also not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because it does not conflict with *Marriage of Black*, 188 Wn.2d 114, 392 P.3d 1041 (2017), or *Marriage of Chandola*, 180 Wn.2d 632, 327 P.3d 644 (2014). (Petition 14-18) In *Black*, this Court reversed a trial court's decision placing the children primarily with the father and imposing restrictions on the mother, who had come out as a lesbian prior to the parties' separation. "In addition to the trial court's written ruling and final parenting plan, the record indicate[d] that improper bias influenced the trial court's decision," 188 Wn.2d at 132-33, ¶ 33; "the trial court did not remain neutral when it considered [the mother]'s sexual orientation as a

factor for determining provisions in the parenting plan." Black, 188 Wn.2d at 131, ¶ 31.

Petitioner claims that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Black* because the trial court relied heavily on Dr. Hedrick's evaluation, which he alleges was permeated by bias, thus "cast[ing] doubt on the entire parenting plan." (Petition 17) But "bald accusations" of bias are inadequate. *Marriage of Meredith*, 148 Wn. App. 887, 903, ¶ 31, 201 P.3d 1056, *rev. denied*, 167 Wn.2d 1002 (2009). There is a strong presumption that the trial court properly discharges its "official duties without bias or prejudice," and the party alleging bias "must provide specific facts establishing bias" to rebut that presumption. *Davis*, 152 Wn.2d at 692.

Unlike here, the petitioner in Black, presented "specific facts" establishing that the parenting evaluator and trial court were biased due to the mother's sexual orientation. The parenting evaluator in Black testified that the mother's "lifestyle choice" might cause "significant controversy" for the children and recommended "broad prohibitions" on the mother's ability to discuss religion and sexual orientation with her children. Black, 188 Wn.2d at 122, ¶ 14, 124, ¶ 15. The bias of the parenting evaluator permeated the trial court's ruling in Black because in adopting her recommendation, the trial

court found that the father was the "more stable parent" because "he is better suited to maintain the children's religious upbringing, which includes certain beliefs about same-sex relationships." 188 Wn.2d at 131, ¶ 31

Here, however, the petitioner failed to present "specific facts" establishing bias by Dr. Hedrick or the trial court. As the Court of Appeals concluded, "[t]here is no evidence that Dr. Hedrick was biased against Youssef because of his religion or culture," and "[c]ontrary to Youssef's assertions, nothing in this case shows the type of affirmative bias the court encountered in *Black*." (Opinion 23) Unlike in *Black*, the record does not support that the trial court would have found the parties here to be equally "capable parents" "but for" the fact that the petitioner was Muslim. *See* 188 Wn.2d at 126, ¶ 21. Bias did not "permeate the proceedings" here, as it did in *Black*, thus the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with *Black*.

The Court of Appeals decision also does not conflict with this Court's decision in *Chandola*, which affirmed limitations on the father's residential time under RCW 26.09.191(3)(g) based on concerns that the father's "obsessive compulsive, over-protective parenting style" could impact the daughter's "fundamental human needs: sleep, nutrition, and socialization." 180 Wn.2d at 650, ¶ 36,

651, ¶ 39. This Court did reverse a provision restraining the father's parents from being present for more than 20% of the father's residential time, concluding that the trial court's finding that the father, "an only child of Indian cultural history, relies too much on extended family to help him raise his child" was inadequate to support its restriction. Absent a finding of harm, the limitations placed on the involvement of the father's parents was not justified, but this Court went out of its way to disavow any reliance on claimed bias by the trial court: "[w]e do not mean to imply that the trial court here was motivated by bias or cultural insensitivity; we conclude only that it did not justify the restriction on grandparent contact with the finding of relatively severe harm required by RCW 26.09.191(3)(g)." Chandola, 180 Wn.2d at 655-56, ¶ 54.

Here, unlike in *Chandola*, no limitations on the petitioner's residential time was entered under RCW 26.09.191 despite the similar "hyper focus" of the fathers on their child in both cases. The only "limit" on the petitioner's residential time was a delay of three months before commencement of overnights. As this residential schedule was established under RCW 26.09.187, rather than RCW 26.09.191, the trial court was not required to make a finding of harm, and it properly supported the short delay in overnights by finding

that the petitioner needed to first participate in counseling to assist him in developing "long-term methods, expectations and attitudes that will lead to positive cooperation with the mother concerning the child and to develop similarly positive means in his own parenting." (CP 787) This finding is consistent with the dictates of RCW 26.09.187 requiring that the trial court "make residential provisions for each child which encourage each parent to maintain a loving, stable, and nurturing relationship with the child" and in doing so, consider "each parent's past and potential for future performance of parenting functions." RCW 26.09.187(3)(a)(iii).

In any event, the trial court's decision was also supported by evidence that the father's "interpersonal difficulties and intense focus" on the daughter could be harmful to the daughter and her ability to interact "with the larger world." (Ex. 1, CP 812) This is wholly consistent with this Court's decision in *Chandola* recognizing that a child's "socialization" is a "fundamental human need" that warrants protection by imposing limits on a parent's residential time. 180 Wn.2d at 650-51, ¶¶ 36-37, ¶ 39.

Review of this unpublished decision is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with any decision from this Court.

### 3. This Court should award respondent her fees for having to respond to this petition.

The Court of Appeals awarded attorney fees to respondent based on her need and petitioner's ability to pay under RCW 26.09.140. (Opinion 27-28) This Court should also award respondent her attorney fees for having to respond to his petition in this Court. RAP 18.1(j).

### D. Conclusion.

This Court should deny review of the Court of Appeals decision and award respondent her attorney fees.